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11. Name of Property

historic name De Pere Public Library
other names/site number N/A

2. Location

street & number 380 Main Avenue N/A not for publication
city or town De Pere N/A vicinity
state Wisconsin code WI county Brown code 9 zip code 54114

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, I hereby certify that this X nomination 
request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of 
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 GFR Part 60. In my opinion, the 
property X meets does not meet the National Register criteria. I recommend that this property be considered significant
nationally ^statewide X locally. ( See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

1 >*
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Signature of certifying official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property meets does not meet the National Register criteria. 
( See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

Signature of commenting official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau
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Name of Property County and State

4. Rational Park Service Certification
I hereby certify that the property is: 
^entered in the National Register.

__ See continuation sheet. 
_ determined eligible for the

National Register.
__ See continuation sheet. 

_ determined not eligible for the
National Register.
__ See continuation sheet. 

_ removed from the National
Register.

_ other, (explain:)

nSignature of the Keeper Date of Action

5. Classification
Ownership of Property
(check as many boxes as 
as apply)

private

X public-local 
. public-State 

public-Federal

Category of Property
(Check only one box)

X building(s)
___ district
_____ structure
_____ site
^^^ object

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources
in the count)
contributing noncontributing 

__1__________0 buildings_____ 

_______________sites______ 
______________structures___ 
______________objects____

1 0 total

Name of related multiple property listing:
(Enter "N/A" if property not part of a multiple property
listing.
Public Library Facilities of Wisconsin_______________

Number of contributing resources
is previously listed in the National Register

0

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions) 
EDUCATION/library________

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions) 
EDUCATION/library_________

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions) 
Tudor Revival

Materials
(Enter categories from instructions) 
Foundation Concrete
walls Limestone

roof Slate
other Wood

Narrative Description
(Describe the historic and current condition of die property on one or more continuation sheets.)
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DESCRIPTION:
The Great Depression of the 1930s was also, paradoxically, a period of enormous growth for public 
works projects throughout the nation, thanks largely to the funding provided by the National Industrial 
Recovery Act (NRA), the Work Progress Administration (WPA), the Public Works Administration 
(PWA), and numerous other federally funded work initiatives. Among the most commonly 
encountered legacies of these projects are schools, post offices, and public libraries, many of which, 
thanks again to the federal funding involved, were of a size and a quality that their communities could 
not otherwise have afforded. An excellent case in point is the superb DePere Public Library, which 
was built in 1936 and opened to the public in early 1937. The building is a modern interpretation of the 
English Cottage subtype of the Tudor Revival style. This building was designed by the distinguished 
architectural firm of Foeller, Schober, and Berners, located in the nearby city of Green Bay, it was 
built by Sam Clark of De Pere, and it is still the only building in De Pere that has ever been built 
specifically to house the city's public library. 1

The De Pere Public Library is located in West De Pere on a gently sloping four-lot parcel that forms 
the entire west end of the block of which it is a part, this parcel being bordered by Main Avenue to the 
south, N. Fourth St. to the west, and an alley behind to the north. The library occupies most of this 
parcel and it is surrounded by lawn and well clipped shrubs, and it is shaded by several maturing trees. 
The library is a one-story structure that rests on a full basement story, the north-facing rear elevation of 
which is partially exposed, because of the slope of the lot. The foundation walls and the basement 
story's floor are poured concrete while all the exterior walls that rest on these foundations are clad in a 
beautifully wrought veneer of a locally quarried limestone that is called Scray stone. Sheltering these 
walls is the building's multi-gable roof, which is completely covered in slate and is edged with copper 
gutters and downspouts. The asymmetrical main facade of the library's main block faces south onto 
Main Avenue, the principal commercial thoroughfare on the west side of the Fox River in De Pere, and 
it is dominated by the building's large gable-roofed main entrance vestibule wing, which is placed at a 
right angle to the facade. A large wing extends from the rear (north-facing) elevation of this main 
block and another wing, built in 1963 in the same style and with the same materials, extends west from 
the end of this wing. The resulting building now has a U-plan and its three wings partially enclose a 
well-landscaped courtyard whose open end faces west onto N. Fourth St.

The design of the library is a variant of the Tudor Revival style that is sometimes called "English 
Cottage Revival" or "Cotswold Style" because of the debt that it owes to the authentic English cottages 
that influenced it. Partly this is due to the materials used, the broken coursed limestone walls and the 
sheltering slate-covered roof being typical of real building practices in the Cotswolds part of England.

De Pere Journal Democrat. January 28, 1937, p. 1.



Form 10-900-a 
(Rev. 8-86)

Wisconsin Word Processing Format (Approved 1/92)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places 
Continuation Sheet

DePere Public Library 
Section 7 Page 2 De Pere, Brown County, Wisconsin

Other elements that contribute to the overall affect include the one-story height and asymmetrical 
design of the building, the use of grouped multi-light windows throughout the building, and the use of 
massive stone chimney stacks to service the library's two fireplaces and its main heating plant. These 
elements and the small, charming courtyard that the public rooms of the library look out onto all 
contrive to give the building a look and a feel that is more domestic than public, characteristics that 
were further reinforced by the design of the interior spaces.

Exterior

As originally built (before the addition of the new children's room wing in 1963), the library had an L- 
plan consisting of the 54-foot long rectilinear plan main block, whose principal facade faces south onto 
Main Avenue, and a 22x28-foot rectilinear plan wing attached to the rear (north-facing) elevation of 
the main block that contained the library's original children's wing. The asymmetrical design of the 
main block's principal facade is better understood if one understands the interior layout behind it. 
Reading from left (west) to right (east) the interior spaces consist of a small reference reading room, a 
larger main reading room, a central checkout area, and finally, a stack area. These elements are each 
distinguishable on the exterior of the building as well. The principal feature of the Main Avenue 
facade is the large gable-roofed entrance vestibule wing that is placed to the right of center and in front 
of the checkout area inside. This wing contains the library's small main entrance hall in its center and 
two bathrooms are placed on either side of this hall, hence the somewhat large size of the vestibule. 
The centered main entrance is at ground level and consists of a tall semi-circular-arched opening 
whose arched portion is outlined by stone voussoirs that blend almost imperceptibly into the broken 
coursed wall surface surrounding it. The actual entrance is deeply inset into this wall and consists of a 
two-light over four-panel wood entrance door that is surmounted by a classically derived denticulated 
entablature. Placed above the entablature is a semi-circular-arched fanlight, whose lights are held in 
place with lead cames, and these elements are all set into the paneled wood inner wall. Flanking the 
entrance opening are two original copper and frosted glass wall sconces. In addition, both the east and 
west-facing side elevations of the entrance whig each have a single narrow four-over-four-light double 
hung wood sash window centered on them whose head pierces the eave of the roof and is placed in a 
small wall dormer.

The main wall surface to the right of the entrance wing contains a pah* of flat-arched openings that are 
filled with six-over-six-light double hung wood sash windows that are separated from each other by a 
wide stone mullion and these windows provide light for the stack area inside. The main wall surface 
to the left of the entrance wing is both longer and taller than the portion to the right and it is two-bays- 
wide. The first bay from the left consists of a pan* of flat-arched openings that are filled with six-over- 
six-light double hung wood sash windows that are separated from each other by a narrow stone



Form 10-900-a 
(Rev. 8-86)

Wisconsin Word Processing Format (Approved 1/92)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places 
Continuation Sheet

DePere Public Library 
Section 7 Page 3 De Pere, Brown County, Wisconsin

mullion and that each have a three-light transom placed above them. These windows provide light for 
the reference room inside. The second bay from the left is wider than the other and consists of a single 
large flat-arched opening that is filled with a triple window group consisting of a pair of six-over-six- 
light double hung wood sash windows that each have a three-light transom above them and which 
flank a fixed twenty-light window that has a five-light transom above. Each of these windows is 
separated from the others in the group by narrow stone mullions and the entire group provides light for 
the main reading room inside. Placed high on the wall surface between the two window groups is a 
dressed stone tablet on which is inscribed the words "De Pere Public Library," and placed on the ridge 
of the main roof of this block in a position that centers it above the main entrance door is a small 
octagonal wood cupola that is surmounted by a concave octagonal metal roof crowned by a working 
metal weather vane.

The east-facing side elevation of the library consists of two principal parts, the east end of the main 
block (south) and the deeply inset east elevation of the original children's wing (north). The east end 
of the main block is crowned by the jerkinhead gable end of the main block's roof and it is one bay in 
width, this bay consisting of a centrally positioned, oblong, five-window group that is placed high on 
the wall and which provides light for the stack room inside. This group consists of five paired six- 
light metal sash casement windows that are filled with wire glass lights. The east side elevation of the 
original children's wing, meanwhile, has three separate six-over-six-light double hung wood sash 
windows placed at its north end and there is a massive stone-clad chimney mass positioned on the 
ridge of the roof above these windows. The left-hand window of these three windows helps light the 
children's wing while the other two light a room located at the north end of this wing that was 
originally devoted to book storage. Placed in the juncture of the two principal elements of this 
elevation just described is a small 12x16-foot, limestone-clad, shed-roofed ell that contains the 
librarian's office. Two flat-arched window openings that each contain a pair of eight-light metal sash 
casement windows surmounted by a three-light metal sash transom are positioned on the east-facing 
elevation of this ell, while the ell's north-facing elevation contains a single window of the same design.

The north-facing rear elevation of the library differs from the building's other elevations in that the 
slight downward sloping of the parcel to the north partially exposes this elevation's basement story. 
This elevation also consists of two principal parts, the north end of the original children's wing to the 
left (east) and the slightly inset and wider north elevation of the 1963 children's wing to the right 
(west). The basement story of the original wing is two bays wide, the left-hand bay being a small 
oblong three-light window while the right-hand bay consists of a flat-arched entrance door opening 
that is filled with a steel door and which is accessed by a short flight of concrete steps that lead down 
to it from the alley behind^the library. The first story of this wing contains two six-over-six-light
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double hung wood sash windows that help light what was originally the book storage room inside and 
the wing is crowned by the clipped gable end of the wing's gable roof.

The north-facing rear elevation of the 1963 children's wing is three bays wide. The three bays of the 
first story each consist of an oblong opening that is filled with three six-light wood sash windows. 
These first story window groups are positioned high up on the wall and they help light the children's 
reading and activity room inside. The two left-hand bays also have an oblong two-light modern 
window placed in their basement story level. In addition, a narrow stone-clad buttress that has a small 
square opening filled with a ventilator placed close to its top is located at the extreme right-hand (west) 
end of this wing.

The west-facing side elevation of the library consists of a small three-sided courtyard that is formed by 
the west end of the 1963 children's wing, the west side elevation of the original children's whig, and 
the west end of the main block. The west end of the 1963 children's wing is symmetrical in design and 
three-bays-wide. The center bay consists of a separate entrance that is accessed by a short flight of 
concrete steps. This flat-arched entrance opening contains a single six-light over four-panel wood 
entrance door that is flanked on either side by four-light side lights. Also flanking the entrance are a 
pair of copper and frosted glass wall sconces that are identical to the ones that flank the main library 
entrance on the main facade. The two other bays each contain a four-over-four-light double hung 
wood sash window and the tip of the gable end of this elevation is crowned by a small triangular 
wooden ventilator. The south-facing side elevation of this wing forms one of the three sides of the 
courtyard and it is three-bays-wide with each bay consisting of a three groups of triple six-over-six- 
light double hung wood sash windows that light the children's reading and activity room inside.

The west end of the main block's sole feature is the massive, stepped, stone-clad chimney mass that is 
centered on it. This chimney mass extends from the ground up to and above the ridge of the main roof 
and it serves the fireplace in the reference room. The north-facing side elevation of this wing forms 
another of the three sides of the courtyard and the first bay from the right consists of a pan* of flat- 
arched openings that are filled with six-over-six-light double hung wood sash windows that are 
separated from each other by a narrow stone mullion and that each have a three-light transom placed 
above them. These windows provide light for the reference room inside. The second bay from the 
right is wider than the other and consists of single large flat-arched opening that is filled with a triple 
window group consisting of a pair of six-over-six-light double hung wood sash windows that each 
have a three-light transom above them and which flank a fixed twenty-light window that has a five- 
light transom above. Each of these windows is separated from the others in the group by narrow stone 
mullions and the entire group provides light for the main reading room inside.
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The west side elevation of the original children's wing is the shortest of the three sides of the courtyard 
and it is three-bays-wide and is dominated by the three-sided polygonal bay that is centered on it and 
that makes up the center bay. The central window of this bay faces west and consists of a fixed 
twenty-light flat-arched wood sash window that is surmounted by a five-light transom. The two sides 
of the bay each have a six-over-six-light double hung wood sash window centered on them that is 
surmounted by a three-light transom. An identical window and transom is placed in the left-hand 
(north) bay located to the left of the bay window while the right-hand bay located to the of right of the 
bay window contains an entrance door opening. This opening contains a six-light over four-panel 
wood door that is surmounted by a three-light wood transom, above which is a second three-light 
wood transom. All of these windows and the door open into the original children's reading room.

Interior

When the De Pere Public Library was first opened to the public in January of 1937, a local newspaper 
gave the following capsule summary of the interior, which is still an accurate description nearly 65 
years later.

The main floor is set at the grade line, and is occupied by a main reading room, 22 by 26 
feet; stack room, on the east side, 28 by 18 feet; children's room on the north, 22 by 28 feet; 
reference room, on the west side, 12 by 21 feet; librarian1 office, 12 by 16 feet; and two 
toilets, on either side of the entrance. One rear room is used for filing books used in rural 
schools.

Walls of the building are plastered, and sound-absorbing board, for acoustical corrections, 
is used on the ceiling. The floor is an asphaltic tile.2

The only change that has taken place since that writing has been the construction of a new children's 
room in 1963, which was attached to the north end of the original west-facing elevation of the original 
children's room wing. The original children's room then became another reading room.

The principal entrance is on the Main Avenue facade and one passes through the entrance door into a 
small rectilinear plan entrance vestibule that has a floor covered in small ceramic art tiles and walls 
that are clad in brown brick up to the level of the springing line of the room's semi-circular arched 
vaulted ceiling, which is plastered. Placed on either side of this vestibule are the men's and women's 
bathrooms, each of which has a single window placed on its outside wall. Both of these rooms have

2 De Pere Journal-Democrat. January 28, 1937, p. 1.
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floors covered in small art tiles and their walls are covered in tan ceramic tiles up to level of the heads 
of the windows, above which both they and the ceiling are plastered.

One then passes through a fifteen-light oak entrance door into the checkout area, which is located 
between the main reading room area to the left (west) and the stack area to the right (east). In 
actuality, all three of these elements are parts of a single long room that is divided into three distinct 
areas by different shelving units and other types of furniture. The checkout area contains a pair of 
fixed charging desks that are paneled in stained oak while to the right is the stack area, which contains 
six tall, freestanding, stained oak book stacks and other equally tall oak shelving units that are placed 
against the walls that surround the stack area portion of the room. Located to the left of the checkout 
area is the reading room area, which has a more informal mix of freestanding shelves and ones 
attached to the walls, the freestanding ones of which are later additions to the room. Throughout these 
three areas all the original asphaltic tile floors are now carpeted except for the stack area, where the 
original floor tiles are still visible, baseboards and the original shelving units are stained oak, and walls 
are plastered and are crowned with a thin, painted crown molding. The ceilings are still covered in 
their original Cellotex acoustical tiles and these are of special interest because of the decorative way in 
which they were laid. First, the ceiling is divided into several large, slightly sunken square panels that 
are completely clad in Cellotex tiles. It is then edged with a continuous band of five-sided tiles that 
create a chevron-like design, and in addition, octagonal tiles of this kind were also used as the bases 
from which the original hanging pendant lights that lit this room were hung. Many of these lights have 
since been replaced with later fluorescent fixtures but all fourteen of the original pendant lights that 
originally illuminated the stack area have survived and are still hi use. These pendants each have a 
round metal canopy that is centered on one of the octagonal tiles, a long metal chain hangs down from 
the canopy, and a ribbed, round, clear glass shade is placed at the end of the chain.

Placed at the west end of the reading room area and separated from it by a plaster-covered partition 
wall is the smaller reference room, which is reached by passing through a centered, segmental-arched 
opening that is closed with a pair of still extant and operable sliding, paneled, stained oak pocket 
doors. Centered on the west wall of this room opposite the entrance doors is a working fireplace of 
classically derived design that has a brick surround and a painted, denticulated wood mantelpiece. 
Flanking both the entrance door and the fireplace are shallow arched alcoves that are filled with 
shelving, while windows are placed on both the north and south walls.

Placed directly opposite the main entrance door on the north wall of the reading room/checkout area is 
a very wide segmental-arched opening into to original children's room. This room has a carpeted 
floor, plastered walls, and a Cellotex-covered ceiling, and its most distinctive original features are the 
large three-sided bay window that is centered on its west wall, which bay has a paneled oak window
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seat placed below it that also contains radiators and their associated ventilating grills, and a small 
fireplace that is centered on the room's north wall opposite the main entrance. This working fireplace 
has a tile hearth, a segmental-arched opening that contains its original cast iron grate, a stone surround, 
and a small oak mantel that is supported by three small brackets and is placed on the wall surface 
above it. Flanking the fireplace on both sides are shallow segmental-arched alcoves, the one on the 
right (east) containing shelving and the one on the left the door opening that leads to a rear hall and to 
the 1963 children's wing.

This rear hall is also plastered and placed directly opposite the door that opens into the old children's 
room is a paneled half door that is placed at the head of a staircase that descend to the building's 
basement story. Placed just to the right of this staircase on the north wall of the hall is a six-light 
paneled oak door that opens into the room that was originally used for filing the books used in rural 
schools but which is now used as a work room and for storage. This room too has plastered walls and 
a ceiling covered in Cellotex tiles and it is still illuminated by its five original hanging pendant lights, 
each of which has a frosted glass bowl.

Both the interior and the exterior design of the De Pere Public Library are very fine examples of their 
period and style and the library's significance is further enhanced by its highly intact state and by the 
excellent maintenance that it has received. The only significant change that has affected the building 
since its original construction has been the 1963 construction of the children's wing addition. 
However, this wing was built out of the same materials and in the same style as the original and its 
construction also served to create the courtyard that is now one of the library's most attractive features, 
a feature that may possibly have been an unrealized part of the original design.
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Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria 
qualifying the property for the National Register 
listing.)

X A Property is associated with events that have 
made a significant contribution to the broad 
patterns of our history.

B Property is associated with the lives 
of persons significant hi our past.

X C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics 
of a type, period, or method of construction 
or represents the work of a master, or possesses 
high artistic values, or represents a significant 
and distinguishable entity whose components 
lack individual distinction.

D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, 
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

A owned by a religious institution or 
used for religious purposes.

B removed from its original location.

C a birthplace or grave.

D a cemetery.

E a reconstructed building, object, or 
structure.

F a commemorative property.

G less than 50 years of age or achieved 
significance within the past 50 years.

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions)

Architecture
Education

Period of Significance

1937
1937-1952

Significant Dates

1937

Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked)

N/A

Cultural Affiliation

N/A

Architect/Builder

Foeller, Schober and Berners

Narrative Statement of Significance
(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)
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SIGNIFICANCE:

The De Pere Public Library building is being nominated to the National Register of Historic Places 
(NRHP) for its local significance under National Register (NR) Criterion C. More specifically, the 
Library is being nominated because of its associations with the NR significance area of Architecture, a 
theme that is also identified in the State of Wisconsin's Cultural Resource Management Plan (CRMP).3 
Research centered on evaluating this building using the Tudor Revival style subsection of the 
Architectural Styles study unit of the CRMP's Architecture Theme section and the Libraries subsection 
of the CRMP's Education Theme section. The results of this research is detailed below and confirms 
that the De Pere Public Library building is locally significant under criterion C as a highly intact and 
extremely well designed modern variant of "English Cottage" or "Cotswold Revival" design as applied 
to a small size city library building of the day. The building is also eligible under NR Criterion A in 
the area of Education for its historically important role as the first (and only) purpose-built home of the 
city of De Pere's public library. The registration requirements for such resources are embodied in the 
Multiple Property Listing for the Public Library Facilities of Wisconsin. This listing further specifies 
that the interior of such a building must retain a considerable degree of integrity. This is a requirement 
that the De Pere Public Library, which has served continuously as De Pere's only public library 
building since it was first opened to the public in 1937, can easily fulfill. In addition, the construction 
of the De Pere Public Library was also partially funded by the FERA and PWA programs, and it was 
nationally recognized as an excellent example of the projects produced under the auspices of this and 
other Depression-era public works programs.

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND:

The downtown core of West De Pere developed because of its location adjacent to the west end of the 
bridges that have spanned the Fox River at this point since 1851 and which unite the communities of 
West De Pere on the west bank of the river and De Pere on the east bank. Proximity to the Fox River 
was the critical factor in the establishment of both of these communities. The mouth of the Fox River 
empties into Green Bay and Lake Michigan and De Pere is located 3 1A miles south of this mouth at a 
place on the river where sizable rapids made further navigation upstream impossible in the early 
1800s. This was also a time when shipping on nearby Lake Michigan was the only reliable means of 
transporting large quantities of goods and large numbers of people to and from this area in the period 
before adequate overland roads and later, railroads, were developed. Consequently, that portion of the 
river between these rapids and Lake Michigan gradually developed into an important Great Lakes port.

3 Wyatt, Barbara (Ed.). Cultural Resource Management in Wisconsin. Madison: State Historic Preservation Division, State 
Historical Society of Wisconsin, 1986. Vol. 3, pp. 5-1 - 5-12 (Education).
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Even more important, though, was the fact that the rapids of the Fox River at De Pere was the most 
important potential source of water power in the area in the 1840s-1860s and was thus the logical place 
for the construction of a dam and of saw mills and flour and grist mills and other industries that could 
make use of water for power and manufacturing.

The combination of transportation access and water power brought success to the De Pere communities 
on both sides of the rapids and this led in turn to the development of roads extending out to outlying 
areas that were in need of the resources that De Pere had to offer. One of the most important of these 
roads on the west bank of the river was Main Avenue. What made this particular east-west-running 
road especially important was that it continued east across the Fox River to De Pere on the east bank 
via the first bridge in the entire Green Bay area that spanned the river. Built in 1851, this bridge and its 
successors were the only bridges in the entire area that crossed the river for some years thereafter, so 
the land near the bridge site on both sides of the river quickly evolved into the places where 
commercial activities occurred. The importance of the West De Pere end of the bridge and of Main 
Avenue was still further enhanced hi 1862 when the first railroad to extend north into this region from 
Chicago. The Chicago & Northwestern Railroad was constructed up the west bank of the river and 
past West De Pere on its way to Fort Howard at the river's mouth. Not surprisingly, the place where 
these tracks crossed Main Avenue became another natural focus for commercial development and 
further anchored the commercial district growing up along Main Avenue.

The De Pere Public Library is located in the heart of West De Pere's commercial district, which 
extends for three blocks along both sides of Main Avenue from the west end of today's Claude Allouez 
Bridge (1932) to the still active Chicago & Northwestern railroad tracks. Land within this six block 
stretch is mostly flat except along its east and north edges, both of which slope down gradually to the 
river, but access to the north shoreline behind the library is completely blocked by the enormous bulk 
of the De Pere plant of the International Paper Co. (200 Main Ave.), which stretches for almost three 
full blocks along the shoreline from the bridge westward.

Historically, Main Avenue has always been the busiest, most important thoroughfare in West De Pere 
and the portion within the commercial district is still lined with the major commercial establishments 
that are associated with this part of the city, including its banks and stores. The buildings within the 
commercial district that now line this street date from the 1870s to the present and several of the more 
important architectural styles and vernacular forms that were developed during this broad span of years 
can be seen in their designs. These buildings range from one to three stories in height, they are mostly 
clad hi masonry, and they are positioned with their principal elevations flush with the sidewalks and 
with their side elevations abutting one another. Although many of the older buildings that once 
fronted on this street have now been demolished, many others are still extant, the most intact grouping
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being the eighteen buildings on the south side of the 300 block directly across from the library that 
comprise the proposed Main Avenue Historic District. The almost completely intact De Pere Public 
Library is something of an anomaly on Main Avenue because it is the only building in the commercial 
district built prior to World War II that was designed from the onset to be freestanding.

Planning for the De Pere Public Library was begun in late 1934, construction began in 1935 and the 
building was completed at the end of 1936, and it was opened to the public on January 25,1937.4 
Since 1900, the collections of the De Pere Public Library had been housed in the second story of the 
West De Pere Fire Engine House (111-113 S. Fourth St., non-extant). The library, which had been 
founded in 1888, had never been housed in a building designed solely for its own use until the opening 
of this building. Thus it is not surprising that by 1934, the library's staff was finding itself to be 
severely handicapped in its ability to meet the needs of local patrons. The completion of the new 
library building in 1937 was therefore an important milestone in the educational life of the city and the 
library continues to be an important institution in the educational and cultural life of the city to this 
day. The construction of the new library was also an architecturally significant event for De Pere 
because its prominent location made it an instantaneous local landmark on the west side of the river. 
This building was designed by the regionally important Green Bay architectural firm of Foeller, 
Schober, and Berners, and the builder was Sam D. Clark of De Pere. Fifty-five percent of the funding 
for the library, which cost approximately $33,000.00, was provided by the city, the other forty-five 
percent by the PWA.

Education

A general history of the city of De Pere and its buildings is included in the recently published City of 
De Pere Intensive Survey Report, and the history of the De Pere Public Library from its founding in 
1888 up until 1968 has been exhaustively researched and chronicled in two excellent, highly detailed 
masters theses published in 1978 and 1985, copies of which are available at the Brown County Public 
Library in Green Bay and at the De Pere Historical Society.5 Consequently, the history that follows 
will not repeat what has already been written except as is necessary to place the library building into 
its historic local context.

4 De Pere Journal-Democrat, January 28, 1937, p. 1.
5 Heggland, Timothy F. City ofDe Pere Intensive Survey Report. De Pere: City of De Pere Historic Preservation 
Commission, 2001. See also: Marian Racine Koss, The Establishment of the De Pere Public Library, 1888-1896. Oshkosh: 
University of Wisconsin-Oshkosh, December, 1978; and Michael C. Vande Hei, History of the De Pere Public Library, 
1896-1968. Oshkosh: University of Wisconsin-Oshkosh, January, 1985
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The founding of the De Pere Public Library was preceded by the establishment of its collections, 
which were begun in September 26,1888 when 31 De Pere women signed the constitution of an 
organization whose purpose was to found a reading room for boys and young men in De Pere. At that 
time the city of De Pere had a population of 2,149 but there was no place in the city other than private 
libraries where reading materials could be obtained and no place where the general public could avail 
themselves of such materials. It was to fill this need that the organization mentioned above was begun 
and its collection consisted at first of reading materials donated by and to this group. The first home of 
the Young Men and Boy's Reading Room Association of De Pere was in a rented room above John 
Steckart's meat market (non-extant) on the east side of the river and funds to maintain it were raised by 
suppers and concerts sponsored and run by the ladies who had organized the Association.

As noted above, most of the books in De Pere at this time were in the private libraries of individuals 
that were inaccessible to the general public. There was one exception, however, the private library 
formed by the Rev. E. P. Salmon, pastor of the De Pere Congregational Church, which he had made 
accessible to members of his congregation in 1878 and which was kept in the church parlor. This 
library began with a collection of 250 books, but its numbers steadily increased over the years and the 
collection was subsequently moved to other quarters, the restriction of church membership was 
removed, and a fee of $1.00 per year was charged instead for user privileges.

In January 14, 1889, the board of the Young Men's Reading Room Association voted to move their 
collection to a more fireproof building, while at the same time the Trustees of the Congregational 
Church offered the loan of the much larger Salmon Collection to the board, which at that time 
comprised some 1,300 books. This offer was unanimously accepted and was followed by a joint 
agreement between the two boards that gave each board partial control and partial responsibility for 
the collection. The combined collection was then moved to new quarters in a room on the second floor 
of the Jackson and Son Building (non-extant), which was located on the northwest comer of George 
Street and Broadway, again on the east side of the river. The collection remained here until 1895, when 
the indebtedness that the Reading Room Association had acquired in the course of operating the 
Reading Room made it necessary to return the collection, which still belonged to the Trustees of the 
Congregational Church, to the Church under the original terms of the loan, which stipulated that the 
Association remain free from debt.

And yet, recurrent problems of financing and staffing notwithstanding, the need for such an institution 
had grown steadily since the Reading Room had been founded. By 1895, De Pere had a population of 
close to 4,000, almost double what it had been in 1888, and the demand for readily accessible reading 
materials was more deeply felt than ever. The upshot was that the Trustees of the church decided to 
give then* library to the City of De Pere instead, which, in turn, agreed to house it in the City Council
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chambers above the East Side Fire Engine House, located at 206-208 N. Broadway (non-extant) and 
provide a fund for its maintenance. On January 27,1896, the Council appointed a new nine member 
library board that was charged with the maintenance and care of the new public library and reading 
room. New bookcases were ordered, 3% of the city's liquor license fees was devoted to the purpose of 
creating a library fund, and the city clerk became the new city librarian for a salary of $60.00 per year.

The new library, which consisted of 1,381 books, was opened to the public on April 11,1896 and for 
the first time, the city of De Pere had a free public library.

Having the city of De Pere take over the library in 1896 had many advantages. Financing 
became dependent on the city council instead of the numerous fund raising projects of the 
women who kept the library alive. A hired, paid librarian replaced volunteers. The library 
hours were set and kept. More money became available to fulfill the early library board's 
worthy aim of constantly increasing the collection.6

The new library was an instant success and so great was the demand that on May 2,1896 the board 
took the additional step of extending the privileges of the library to those living outside the city limits 
upon the prepayment of one dollar per year. By May of 1899, the library had nearly 2,000 books in its 
collection, but on May 19th the building that housed the library was almost totally destroyed by fire 
and the collection was heavily damaged. Insurance covered about half the loss and the reduced 
collection was then moved to second floor of the school building on the corner of James and N. 
Wisconsin streets known as the Old Stone School (non-extant). While negotiations to create a 
permanent home for the library in the stone school house building were underway, fire struck again on 
February 20, 1900, further reducing the collection, although not doing as much damage as the first fire. 
The library board then accepted an offer from the City to move the collection across the river to the 
second story of the West Side Fire Engine House on S. Fourth Street, a decision that was greeted with 
enthusiasm by those living in West De Pere, who had not previously had a library facility on their side 
of the river.

The new quarters of the library were to be its home for the next 37 years, during which period the 
library and the services it offered would undergo a great transformation. Almost immediately after 
moving to the west side of the river, the library staff began a process of adding significantly to its 
specialized holdings and expanding the area it served. At this point the library supplied its patrons 
with books, periodicals and newspapers, and it also allowed teachers in community schools to

6 Koss, Marian Racine. The Establishment of the De Pere Public Library, 1888-1896. Oshkosh: University of Wisconsin- 
Oshkosh, December, 1978, p. 31.
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checkout an unlimited number of books that they read themselves and also circulated to their students. 
In 1900, the beginnings of what would become a significant new collection of books written in Dutch 
was acquired to meet the needs of the many Dutch immigrants in the area and in 1903 a similar 
collection was started for German-speaking area residents. By the end of 1903, there were 1,115 
registration cards in use, 2,840 books in the collection, and circulation for that year was 14,501. By 
1910, the library was beginning to lend some of its Dutch language books to other Brown County 
communities, which was the start of what was to become an ever growing network of locations that the 
library served outside of the city of De Pere itself.

To deal with the limitations imposed by their modest quarters above the Fire Engine House, the library 
began to actively establish small informal branches and substations throughout the areas it served. To 
compensate for the fact that the east side of De Pere now no longer had its own library, a traveling 
library was established in the Women's Club lounge, which was located in the library's old quarters in 
the Jackson & Sons store on N. Broadway. Dutch language traveling libraries were also established in 
the town of Lawrence in Brown County, the village of Kimberly in neighboring Outagamie County, 
and as far south as the city of Waupun in Dodge County. By 1915, the library had 6,200 volumes, a 
circulation of 23,000, and an ever growing need for larger, modern, more suitable quarters.

In 1920, Helen Mathews, the library's tireless librarian, noted in her annual report that one rural 
teacher had checked out over 300 books on her teacher card, producing a drain on the number of books 
available for De Pere children, and she recommended that the Brown County Board appropriate money 
for library purposes to the library to alleviate the situation. In 1922, the board did so, beginning a 
history of county involvement in library activity that has lasted to this day. One result of this new 
source of income was the founding of affiliated rural substations. The first substation of the De Pere 
Public Library was established in a private home in the town of Shirley in January of 1924 and the 
next followed a month later in the school at Lark. By July of 1926, six such substations were in 
operation and by 1931 there were eleven, three in stores and eight in schoolhouses located throughout 
the county. At this time the De Pere library was serving 51 schools and 68 rural teachers and had a 
county circulation of 25,000 volumes, which was in addition to the more than 50,000 volumes that 
were circulated within De Pere itself.

By 1934, the need for a new and larger library facility in De Pere had become acute. The dreams of 
the library board were realized when the city council purchased the old Bingham & Risdon business 
block on the northeast corner of Main Avenue and N. Fourth Street for a cost of $3000.

By October 18, 1934, George Eiler had been engaged to supervise the tearing down of the two- 
story Bingham & Risdon brick structure. His crew of twelve men were selected from the relief
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rolls and furnished through the FERA [Federal Emergency Relief Administration] 
administration offices at Green Bay.

By the end of October, the library building committee engaged the architectural firm of Foeller, 
Schober and Berners to submit plans and specifications for the new building. On October 31, 
the architectural firm met with the library board at the home of President Branson. The 
architects and library board met twice in November and decided to place the county room on 
the main floor, rather than the in the basement.

By the end of December 1934, the Bingham & Rison building had been razed, but the library 
building committee was faced with another problem. The quotations received for building the 
new library were all far in excess of the $10,000 bond issue with which the committee had 
hoped to erect the building. Original proposed estimates indicated that if the total of $20,000 
were needed for the building, $10,000 would cover the material cost and $10,000, the cost of 
labor to be furnished by the FERA. The building committee was considering the proposition of 
carrying on building the library as a PWA (Public Works Administration) project, whereby the 
city would receive an outright grant of 30 percent toward the cost of construction. 
By Julyl 1, 1935, a resolution was adopted authorizing the city to apply to the United States 
government for funds to build the De Pere Public Library. Not until October of that year was 
the federal grant approved for construction. The library cost totaled $30,870, of which the 
federal government was to contribute $13,981, and the city the balance.

Library construction bids were opened on November 7, 1935. The general contractor was Sam 
D. Clark. Final approval was received by the PWA on November 19, 1935. The excavation 
for the basement had been completed under the FERA program nearly a year earlier. The 
footings were poured and construction was underway to enclose the building before inclement 
weather set in. Forty-three hundred square feet of facing stone from the Scray quarries in East 
De Pere was required for the building, and fifty-three cords of rubble stone was used for the 
basement.

The construction of the library was completed, inspected, and formally accepted by the De Pere 
City Council in May of 193. Because of delays in the shipment of equipment, the new De Pere 
Public Library was not opened to the public until January 23,1937. ... For the first time hi 
over forty years, the De Pere Public Library had a building of its own.. . 7

7 Vande Hei, Michael C., History of the De Pere Public Library, 1896-1968. Oshkosh: University of Wisconsin-Oshkosh, 
January, 1985, pp. 45-47.
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With its new and much larger building in service, the library's board and Helen Mathews were now 
able to significantly expand the services they offered. In this they were helped by the county board, 
which gave them $1370 in 1937 for the furnishing of the county room in the library. This room was 
used for supplying materials to the county substations and for checking out material by county patrons; 
all materials in this room were purchased with county funds. The importance of the De Pere-Brown 
County relationship over the years would be difficult to overestimate. In the fifteen years between 
1924, when the relationship began, and 1939, the total county collection had increased from a few 
hundred books to 7,735, locations of adult collections in the county had increased from two 
substations to twenty-one, 81 teachers in the county were now utilizing the resources of the library, 
and total county circulation was 51,000, a number that nearly equaled that generated by the patrons in 
the city of De Pere. 8 When Helen Mathews retired in 1954 after 54 years as the De Pere Public 
Library's head librarian, the library had grown from a collection of 2,000 books when she began, to 
over 41,000, a collection that she had also made accessible to almost all the residents of the county. 
Mathews had also been instrumental in the planning and construction of the present De Pere Public 
Library building and in seeing that De Pere had library facilities that were equal to its needs during a 
period when the city's population grew from 4,038 in 1900 to 8,146 in 1950.

Nine years later, in 1963, the library added a new children's wing on to the old one, which gave the 
city's children a better space of their own while significantly increasing the size of the space that was 
available to rest of the library's patrons. Later in the same year, discussions also began regarding the 
desirability of the De Pere Public Library joining in the creation of a county-wide library system. 
After four years of debate and numerous public hearings, a decision was made in favor of this proposal 
and in December of 1967, Brown County purchased the De Pere Library, its land, and materials, for 
$264,863 and made it a unit in the newly established county-wide library system that is still in place 
and still growing today.

The historic importance of the De Pere Public Library to its community may be hard to measure but it 
has been profound. As the Libraries Study Unit of the Cultural Resource Manual (CRMP) notes:

Over 100 years have passed [in 1986] since some of Wisconsin's earliest libraries were built. 
The movement that created them grew out of national and regional trends in economics and 
society as much as it reflected local initiatives. The broad trends have left an enduring imprint 
on communities across the state. The town library today is viewed as a necessary civil service,

8 Vande Hei, Michael C., Op. Cit.. pp. 48-49. It is worth noting that when the State of Wisconsin began a statewide library 
project for rural schools in 1940, the De Pere Public Library had already been offering the same services in Brown County 
for fifteen years.
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functioning not only as a tool for education but also as an important element of a community's 
self image. The fact that so many of Wisconsin's library buildings are still extant, many still 
used for then- original purpose, attests to their enduring value as libraries and as physical 
demonstrations of community participation in a cultural movement of national scope and 
importance.9

The De Pere Public Library is therefore believed to be eligible for listing in the NRHP because it is the 
only surviving building in the city that has been associated with the public library movement in De 
Pere and because it represents the culmination of almost a half century of struggle to give the city of 
De Pere a free public library building of its own. The historic context for the library movement is 
further detailed in the multiple property nomination form. The De Pere Public Library is one of the 
city's more enduring and important institutions and its local significance is heightened by its very high 
degree in integrity and by the fact that it continues to be used for its original purpose. This 
significance is further enhanced by the fact that it owes its existence to the Depression era FERA and 
PWA programs. These federally funded era public works programs have left a built legacy in 
Wisconsin and elsewhere in the nation that encompasses everything from sidewalks to airports, but 
few of the projects it helped to complete in Wisconsin can be said to have had a greater and more 
lasting impact on a community than has this one. 10

Architecture

The De Pere Public Library was completed in 1937 and it is being nominated to the National Register 
of Historic Places for its local significance as an excellent and exceptionally intact example of the kind 
of small to medium-sized Period Revival style public libraries that were being built in this country in 
the 1920s and 1930s. This context is also discussed in the multiple property nomination form. The De 
Pere Public Library is an especially fine and intact example of the application of the "Cotswold 
Cottage" variant of the Tudor Revival style design to a middle size public library. The library was 
designed by Noel R. Safford, an architect and future partner on the staff of the architectural firm of 
Foeller, Schober and Bemers of the nearby city of Green Bay, one of the most important architectural 
firms in Wisconsin. 11 The general contractor was Sam D. Clark of De Pere and much of the work was 
done by workers sponsored by the Depression era FERA program.

9 Wyatt, Barbara (Ed.). Cultural Resource Management in Wisconsin. Madison: State Historic Preservation Division, State 
Historical Society of Wisconsin, 1986. Vol. 3, p. 5-5 (Education).
10 The De Pere Public Library's period of significance for significance area of Education spans the years from 1937, when 
the building was put in service, until 1952, the current boundary established by the NPS' 50-year rule.
11 De Pere Journal-Democrat. January 28, 1937, p. 1.
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The CRMP's Tudor and Elizabethan Revival subsection states that:

Tudor and Elizabethan Revival styles draw primarily upon English antecedents of the sixteenth 
century. Ornamental half-timbering applied over a conventional balloon frame structure and 
in-filled with stucco or brick is a hallmark of the Tudor Revival. Elizabethan Revival 
buildings, much rarer in Wisconsin, are more commonly of brick with stone detailing. They 
also tend to be larger in scale and more formal. Both styles are characterized by elaborate 
decorative chimneys, multi-gabled roof lines, and large window expanses subdivided by a 
multitude of mullions. Tudor and Elizabethan Revival structures are irregular in plan. Small- 
scale residential versions of the type, sometimes called "Cotswold Cottages," often with a 
"thatched roof simulated with shingles, are quaint houses of stone, shingles or brick. 12

It is to the last mentioned variant of the Tudor Revival style, the so-called "Cotswold Cottages," that 
the De Pere Public Library belongs. Such buildings typically display most of the basic characteristics 
of the Tudor Revival style such as elaborate chimneys, multi-gable roof lines, large multi-light 
window groups, and irregular plans, but they usually do so on a smaller, more domestic scale. The De 
Pere Public Library is an excellent example of the way in which these elements could be used by a 
competent designer to produce a public building that had a domestic appearance and also satisfied all 
the needs of a modern library. The irregular plan adopted for the library was both domestic in 
appearance and well-suited to the library's need to keep patrons of different ages separate. Similarly, 
supplying the library with large groups of multi-light windows also provided plentiful daylight for 
daytime reading. The addition of two working fireplace inside the library was still another nice 
domestic touch and one that was echoed on the outside of the building by the building's massive 
chimneys. The combination of all these elements resulted in a building of friendly, approachable 
design that also happened to be an excellent functioning library as well.

Adding to the success of the design were the materials used. Using locally quarried stone for the 
exterior and slate for the roof resulted in the creation of a superior, more maintenance free building and 
they were also in keeping with the style and resulted in the creation of a more "English" appearing 
building. In addition, these materials were also labor intensive to fashion, which was in line with the 
make-work aspects of the PWA and FERA programs.

The designers of the library, the firm of Foeller, Schober & Berners, had become one of the most 
important architectural firms in Wisconsin since its founding in Green Bay in 1895. The founding 
partner was Henry Foeller (1871-1938), who was born in the French province of Alsace in 1871, the

12 Wyatt, Barbara (Ed.). Op. Cit. Vol. 2, p. 2-30 (Architecture).
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eldest of 17 children. He came to Wisconsin in 1885 and lived with an uncle in Oshkosh who put him 
through high school and Oshkosh Teachers College. During this time, Foeller was apprenticed to 
Oshkosh architect William Waters (1843-1917), the most prominent architect in that city and one of 
the most prominent in the state. In 1895, Foeller came to Green Bay where he formed a short-lived 
partnership with James E. Clancy under the name Clancy & Foeller. Two years later, Foeller began 
practicing on his own and he continued to do so until 1907, when he took as a partner Max W. Schober 
(7-1965) who had begun his Green Bay career as a draughtsman in Foeller's office. The new firm, 
Foeller & Schober, soon became the most important one in Green Bay, a position it has maintained 
long after the death of the original partners.

A major reason for this success was the skill the firm showed in attracting new personnel who had the 
ability to design conservative versions of the latest architectural styles and fashions. This task was 
made easier because of the prominence of the firm, which made it the logical place for newly arriving 
architects and engineers in Green Bay to begin their careers. Among these persons was Edgar Berners, 
(1898-?), who was born in Port Washington and raised and educated in that community. Bemers 
subsequently became an engineer and came to Green Bay in 1925, where he was promptly employed in 
the offices of Foeller & Schober. By 1929, Berners had been made a partner in the firm, which was 
renamed Foeller, Schober & Berners. Berners eventually became certified as an architect and was 
eventually honored by being named a Fellow of the American Institute of Architects.

Not surprisingly, given its relatively close proximity to De Pere, the firm of Foeller & Schober 
designed more buildings in De Pere than any other known firm between 1904 and the present, almost 
all of which are still extant. The first was the Beaux Arts style remodeling that Henry Foeller did for 
the State Bank of De Pere in 1904 at 127 N. Broadway, which is still extant today. This was to be 
followed by a lengthy list of projects of every kind that have continued to the present day by the latest 
generation of the firm, which is now one of the oldest if not the oldest continuously operating 
architectural firm in Wisconsin and is known as Berners-Schober Assoc., Inc. 13

The firm's new library was an immediate hit with the citizens of De Pere. As a local newspaper noted: 
"De Pere now has a library building to which it can point with pride." 14 The excellence of the 
building's design and its suitability for the purpose it was intended was also appreciated well beyond 
the borders of Brown County. In 1939, the federal government published a massive book entitled 
Public Buildings: A Survey of Architecture, that amounted to a nationwide catalog of the finest 
buildings constructed by the Public Works Administration (PWA) up to that tune. 15 Among the few

13 Bemers-Schober, Assoc., Inc. Archives. The archives of the firm in Green Bay retain the original plans of the library.
14 De Pere Journal-Democrat. January 21, 1937, p. 1.
15 Short, C. W. and R. Stanley-Brown. Public Buildings: A Survey of Architecture. Washington, D.C.: Government
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small libraries shown was the De Pere Public Library, which, although just one of the many that the 
PWA had been involved with, was also one of the finest.

Consequently, it is believed that the De Pere Public Library meets the test of Criterion C, which asks 
that a nominated property exhibit "Distinctive design or physical characteristics." The library exhibits 
nearly all of the design characteristics that are typically associated with the Tudor Revival style, such 
as steeply pitched roofs, usually side-gabled; a facade dominated by one or more prominent cross 
gables, usually steeply pitched; multi-pane windows, usually placed in multiple groups and massive 
chimneys. These elements have been skillfully blended by the architect, who created an excellent 
example of the style. The significance of the library is further enhanced by its very intact and original 
interior and by the very fine physical condition of the building.

In conclusion, the De Pere public library represents the spread of the free library movement to the 
community and the desire to provide an accessible and well-equipped facility for De Pere and the 
surrounding community. In addition, the library is a fine example of the cottage subtype of the Tudor 
Revival style with all of the definitive elements of the style that retains a very high level of 
architectural integrity on both the interior and the exterior. The period of significance begins with the 
completion and opening of the building in 1937 to the end of the historic period in 1952.

Printing Office, 1939, p. 339.
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_ recorded by Historic American Engineering Record #_

Primary location of additional data:
X State Historic Preservation Office
_ Other State Agency
_ Federal Agency
_ Local government
_ University
X Other

Name of repository:
De Pere Historical Society

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property less than one acre

UTM References (Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.)

Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing 
I I See Continuation Sheet

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet) 

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet)

111. Form Prepared By

name/title Timothy F. Heggland/Consultant for the City of De Pere Historic Preservation Commission
organization date October 29, 2001
street & number 6391 Hillsandwoods Road telephone 608 795-2650
city or town Mazomanie state WI zip code 53560
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MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES:

Berners-Schober, Assoc., Inc. Archives.

De Pere Journal-Democrat. January 21, 1937; January 28, 1937.

Heggland, Timothy F. City ofDe Pere Intensive Survey Report. De Pere: City of De Pere Historic 
Preservation Commission, 2001.

Koss, Marian Racine. The Establishment of the De Pere Public Library, 1888-1896. Oshkosh: 
University of Wisconsin-Oshkosh, December, 1978.

Short, C. W. and R. Stanley-Brown. Public Buildings: A Survey of Architecture. Washington, D.C.: 
Government Printing Office, 1939, p. 339.

Vande Hei, Michael C., History of the De Pere Public Library, 1896-1968. Oshkosh: University of 
Wisconsin-Oshkosh, January, 1985.

Wyatt, Barbara (Ed.). Cultural Resource Management in Wisconsin. Madison: State Historic 
Preservation Division, State Historical Society of Wisconsin, 1986. Vols.2 and 3.



De Pere Public Library____________________________Brown________________Wisconsin 
Name of Property County and State

Additional Documentation
Submit the following items with the completed form: 

Continuation Sheets

Maps A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.
A sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.

Photographs Representative black and white photographs of the property. 

Additional Items (Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

I Property Owner
Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO.) 

name/title Brendan Bruss
organization
street&number
city or town

Brown County
Northern Building, 305 E. Walnut St.
Green Bay state WI

date
telephone
zip code

October, 2001
920 448-4035
54301

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic 
Places to nominate properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. 
Response to this request is required to obtain a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended 
(16 U.S.C. 470 et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including 
time for reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments 
regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, 
P.O. Box 37127, Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Projects, 
(1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.
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Boundary Description:

Lots 19-22, Block 4, De Pere Company's Addition to the Plat of West De Pere.

Boundary Justification:

The boundaries include all the land historically associated with the De Pere Public Library.
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Section photos Page 1 De Pere, Brown County, Wisconsin

Items a-d are the same for photos 1-9.

Photo 1 Photo 9
a) De Pere Public Library e) Interior, old children's room, View looking N
b) De Pere, Brown County, WI f) Photo 9 of 9
c) Timothy F. Heggland, September 6, 2001
d) Wisconsin Historical Society
e) View of main facade., View looking N
f) Photo 1 of 9

Photo 2
e) View looking NE
f) Photo 2 of 9

Photo 3
e) Courtyard, View looking E
f) Photo 3 of 9

Photo 4
e) View looking SE
f) Photo 4 of 9

Photo 5
e) View looking SW
f) Photo 5 of 9

Photo 6
e) Interior, checkout desk, View looking E
f) Photo 6 of 9

Photo 7
e) Interior, reading room, View looking W
f) Photo 7 of 9

Photo 8
e) Interior, reference room fireplace, View looking W
f) Photo 8 of 9


